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ON NOVEMBER 20, 1919, Dr. Bashford Dean, the 
Metropolitan Museum's first Curator of Arms and 
Armor, sailed for Europe on a six-month journey 
that would take him to England, Belgium, France, 
Switzerland, Germany, Czechoslovakia, Austria, Italy, 
Turkey, Greece, and Spain. The principal purpose of 
Dean's trip, his first curatorial travel abroad since the 
outbreak of World War I, seems to have been the 
purchase of objects both for the Metropolitan Mu- 
seum and for his own important private collection. 
To this end, Dean traveled to forty-eight cities, 
where-by his own count-he visited a total of 649 
antiquaries' shops and sixty private collections. The 
recent discovery of the notebooks Dean kept on this 
trip, together with the photographs he made at that 
time, have shed new light on his collecting activities 
and provide documentation for the date and place of 
purchase, and for the provenance of many of his ac- 
quisitions. Since much of this information is unre- 
corded elsewhere, these notebooks and photographs 
constitute important new sources for the history of 
the collections of the Department of Arms and 
Armor.' 

Dean's notebooks are especially useful in establish- 
ing his travel in 1919-20 as the occasion on which he 
acquired three important groups of early European 
armor, most of which came to the Metropolitan Mu- 
seum following his death in 1928. Armor from be- 
fore 1500 is exceedingly rare-most of it seems to 
have been used up or to have rusted away-and 
therefore was particularly prized by Dean, who con- 
sidered himself a medievalist. Two of the three 
groups are well known to armor specialists and come 

from island fortresses in the Aegean Sea-Chalcis 
and Rhodes. 

Chalcis was the chief Venetian stronghold on the 
Greek island of Euboea (Negroponte), which fell to 
Turkish invaders in 1470. A hoard of armor was dis- 
covered there in 1840 during repairs to the military 
hospital that occupied the site of the former fortress. 
The hoard originally consisted of about one hundred 
helmets and several hundred elements of body ar- 
mor (brigandine plates and defenses for the arms 
and legs), all of which had presumably belonged to 
the island's defenders. The ownership of the armor 
eventually passed to the Historical and Ethnological 
Museum (today the National Historical Museum) in 
Athens, from which Dean acquired, by exchange, 
virtually all of the body armor and about a dozen hel- 
mets, approximately two hundred pieces in all.2 

The armor from Rhodes, like that from Chalcis, 
was discovered in the nineteenth century, presum- 
ably in the castle. The fortress had fallen to the 
Turks in 1522 after a fierce defense by the stalwart 
Knights of the Order of St. John of Jerusalem (who 
subsequently transferred their headquarters to Malta 
and were henceforth known as the Knights of Malta). 
About two hundred of the better-preserved elements 
of armor were purchased on the island by General 
J. H. Lefroy, Secretary of the Royal Artillery Insti- 
tute, who sent them to the Royal Artillery Museum at 
Woolwich in 1866; the majority of these were trans- 
ferred to the Armouries in the Tower of London in 
1927.3 The remainder of the armor, much of it very 
badly corroded and broken, went on the art market 
and ended up in the hands of the Parisian antiquary 
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1. The Byzantine church of Hagia Eirene (St. Irene), 
the former imperial Ottoman arsenal. View from 
the west, with the outer wall of the Topkapi Sarayi 
in the foreground (photo: courtesy of Dumbarton 
Oaks Center for Byzantine Studies, Washington, 
D.C.) 

Louis Bachereau, who sold Dean about a hundred 
pieces in April 1920.4 The majority of the Chalcis 
and Rhodes pieces eventually passed from Dean's es- 
tate to the Metropolitan Museum by means of be- 
quest, gift, or purchase after the curator's death in 
November 1928. 

Purchases of this kind were characteristic of Dean, 
a zoologist by training, who considered armor frag- 
ments his "fossils."5 With only a handful of complete, 
homogeneous fifteenth-century armors in existence, 
and with little hope that any of them would come on 
the market, Dean saw in these elements the possibil- 
ity of reconstructing "Gothic" armors (i.e., those dat- 
ing from before 1500) from genuine but disparate 
elements, much as a paleontologist would reconstruct 
a complete dinosaur from a few excavated bones. In- 
deed, a number of the Chalcis and Rhodes elements, 

thoroughly cleaned and repaired, eventually were in- 
corporated into composite armors, cap a pie, includ- 
ing eight harnesses now in the Metropolitan Mu- 
seum.6 

Dean's notebooks also reveal that the trip of 9199- 
20 netted him a third, previously unrecorded group 
of early armor of Eastern Mediterranean origin, 
closely related to those from Chalcis and Rhodes. 
This group comprises five European helmets that 
Dean purchased directly from the authorities of the 
Military Museum (Askeri Miize) in Constantinople 
(modern Istanbul). As the Military Museum contains 
the core of the former Ottoman arsenal, it is gener- 
ally assumed that most of the European arms and ar- 
mor in that collection are booty captured from Chris- 
tian knights who fell in battle against the Turks in the 
Holy Land, in the Mediterranean and Aegean re- 
gions, or in Eastern Europe. Four of the helmets are 
now in the Metropolitan Museum's collection; the 
fifth is in the Kienbusch Collection in the Philadel- 
phia Museum of Art. Although all of these helmets 
have been published on earlier occasions, nothing 
was hitherto known of their provenance. The pur- 
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pose of this article is to examine these helmets once 
again in the light of their newly discovered Turkish 
source and at the same time to focus attention on 
what must be one of the last great and still largely 
unknown holdings of European arms and armor, the 
former imperial Ottoman arsenal in Istanbul. 

THE ARSENAL OF ST. IRENE 

Following the fall of the Byzantine capital of Con- 
stantinople in 1453, the Ottoman Sultan Mehmed II, 
known as the Conqueror, ordered the construction 
of a palace complex on the hill overlooking the city 
and the Bosporus. This palace, the Topkapi Sarayi, 
enclosed within its precinct the Byzantine church of 
Hagia Eirene, known in English as St. Irene (Figure 
1). Under the new Muslim rule, the church was taken 
over as an arsenal.7 Thus it was that the former 
Christian church, built by Emperor Justinian in the 
sixth century, came to serve as a depot for the mili- 
tary equipment of the sultan's guard and as a reposi- 
tory for the trophies of arms and military regalia 
taken by the Turks. These trophies eventually came 
to include those of the Persians, defeated in 1514, 
and of the Mamluk kingdom in Egypt and Syria, 
which fell in 1517, not to mention the arms of Chris- 
tian knights. Located in the first, or outermost, 
courtyard of the palace complex, where the sultan's 
guard were housed and which was accessible to the 
public, the arsenal not only served a practical military 
purpose but also had propagandistic value as a sym- 
bol of imperial Ottoman conquest.8 

During the reign of Sultan Ahmed III (1703-30), 
it was decided to create a national military museum 
after the manner of European examples. The collec- 
tions of the arsenal were reorganized and the new 
ddr al-asliha ("maison d'armes") was opened in 1726. 
In the years that followed, however, the arsenal suf- 
fered many losses. During the reign of Selim III 
(1789-1807), the revolution of the Janissaries, the 
sultan's politically powerful elite troops, led to the 
looting of some of the arsenal's holdings. The subse- 
quent abolition and brutal destruction of the Janis- 
saries in 1826 entailed the eradication of all traces of 
the corps, including their equipment. As a result, 
many objects associated with the Janissaries were re- 
moved from the arsenal and destroyed. At about the 
same time, a number of precious arms were trans- 

ferred to the imperial treasury and others were pre- 
sented as gifts to foreigners.9 

Perhaps the greatest loss to the arsenal's collections 
occurred about 1839-40, at the beginning of the 
reign of Sultan Abdul Mejid I (ruled 1839-61), 
when vast quantities of European and Islamic armor 
and weapons were thrown out of St. Irene, appar- 
ently as scrap. Many of these arms, recognizable by 
the so-called arsenal mark'? incised into the iron sur- 
faces, found their way to Europe and are now in mu- 
seums and private collections around the world. The 
Metropolitan Museum alone possesses more than 
one hundred pieces bearing this mark, an indication 
of the enormous amount of material that must have 
originally been discarded." The circumstances sur- 
rounding this event were fortunately recorded by 
Robert Curzon (1810-73), Baron Zouche of Parham, 
a frequent traveler to the Middle East and former 
consular attache in Constantinople (1841-44), as well 
as a collector of arms and armor: 

When the present Sultan, Abdul Medjid, came to the 
throne, he was introduced, according to ancient custom, 
to the various places, public buildings, and treasuries of 
his predecessors.... The new sultan went to St. Sofia 
and the Seraglio. Here the first building he entered was 
the ancient church of St. Irene, which had been con- 
verted into an armory by Mahomed II, who filled it with 
his own armour, that of former sultans, and the spoils of 
the Christian defenders of Constantinople. All this col- 
lection the new sultan ordered to be cleared away and 
the walls new whitewashed, which was done accordingly. 
The inferior authorities, however, preserved the swords 
of Abu Bekir, and the arms and armour of several fa- 
mous personages, as well as some pieces of armour that 
were covered with gold and richly ornamented. The 
plague was then raging at Constantinople, and a Gen- 
oese vessel, fearing to lade an infectious cargo, bought 
as much of this armour, at the price of old iron, as could 
be stowed away in her hold. On arriving at Genoa it was 
shovelled out upon the quay: nobody bought it, and [a] 
great part was carried away by the boys for playthings, 
and many old helmets were used by poor people as 
kettles or cooking vessels. The remainder, much dam- 
aged by the salt water, rain, and breakage, was at length 
purchased by a Genoese gentleman, in whose hands I 
found it. I bought as much as he would then sell, but 
subsequently he became wearied with ineffectual at- 
tempts to arrange the suits with historical propriety, and 
disposed of much more of the collection. Some was pur- 
chased by persons at Milan, other portions found buyers 
in other parts of Italy, and the remainder was brought 
to England.'2 
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2. The interior of St. Irene when utilized as the Turk- 
ish Military Museum. View looking toward the nave 
and sanctuary at the east end, ca. 900o 

Curzon's report indicates that, with the exception 
of certain pieces of particular artistic value or histor- 
ical associations, the majority of the arms in the arse- 
nal were disposed of at that time. Photographs of the 
interior of St. Irene taken around 1900 (Figure 2) 
show that, on the contrary, a vast collection re- 
mained. The walls of the cavernous interior were 
covered with tightly packed military arms, and there 
can be seen numerous vitrines filled with oriental ar- 
mor and weapons, manikins dressed in ethnic cos- 
tumes, decorative trophies mounted high on the 
walls, and banners hanging from the balconies above. 

3. A panoply of arms, including European swords dat- 
ing from the 14th and i5th centuries, forming part 
of the decoration of the Military Museum, ca. 1900oo 
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The photographs appear to record the arrangement 
made by Marshal Fechti Pacha, who, during the 
reign of Sultan Abdul-Hamid II (1876-1909), was 

charged with the rearrangement of the arsenal. 
Fechti Pacha was especially praised for his introduc- 
tion of the panoplies of arms, which are, as may be 
seen in the photographs (Figure 3), so distinctive a 
feature in the collection's arrangement.'3 

Curzon's account and the photographs of the inte- 
rior of St. Irene, which show mostly Turkish arms 
and armor, gave rise to the widely held belief that, 
with the exception of the European swords incorpo- 
rated into the panoplies, no European arms and ar- 
mor remained in the arsenal.14 That this was not the 
case is demonstrated by a remarkable series of 
photographs (Figures 4-20) taken by Dean in the 
Military Museum in Istanbul in 1920. These photo- 
graphs show numerous European helmets, elements 
of armor, and swords in vitrines, on tabletops, and on 
the floor. In the courtyard of the Military Museum 
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4-8. 
The interior of the Military Mu- 
seum in 1920, showing the 
great stores of helmets, armor 
parts, and swords, mostly of Eu- 
ropean origin (photos: B. Dean) 
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9-10. The courtyard of the Military 
Museum in 1920, showing the 
unpacking of crates of rusted 
armor parts of both European 
and Islamic origin (photos: B. 
Dean) 

11. A pile of armor parts, appar- 
ently in the courtyard of the 
Military Museum, 1920 (photo: 
B. Dean) 

10 

(originally the atrium of the former Byzantine 
church), among the cannon, there were about a 
dozen rough crates filled with hundreds of armor 
fragments, with more fragments spilling onto the 
pavement between the boxes (Figures 9, o1). These 
seem to have been brought outside, presumably from 
storage areas within the building, for Dean's benefit. 
The condition of these fragments was ruinous, the 
majority of them being heavily corroded and many 
badly broken. Recognizable among the pieces are 
several sixteenth-century Italian pauldrons and tas- 
sets, and it is safe to assume that a great many of the 
other pieces were likewise of European origin. The 
saddest sight of all is the mound of armor fragments 
piled high against a wall like a rubbish heap (Figure 
11). A similar sight may have presented itself on the 
quay in Genoa, when the arms discarded in Constan- 
tinople in 1839-40 were unloaded from the ship's 
hold. 

The discovery of such an enormous, unpublished 
collection of European armor must have thrilled 
Dean. He evidently set about to record as much of it 
as possible, concentrating on the helmets, which were 
more readily accessible and therefore easier to study 
and photograph than the armor fragments. Nine of 
Dean's photographs are preserved (Figures 12-20), 
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each showing six to eight helmets arranged in two 
tiers on a table. In all, sixty-six examples are re- 
corded, representing almost every helmet type in use 
between the late fourteenth and the mid-seventeenth 
century: basinets, barbutes, sallets, war hats, armets, 
close helmets, burgonets, and Zischagge. Not only do 
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these photographs illustrate dozens of helmets, many 
of unusual construction or shape not previously 
known to arms and armor specialists, but they also 
record a large number of pieces that are no longer to 
be found in the Military Museum in Istanbul.15 For 
these reasons it is important to reproduce all of 
Dean's photographs. 

The photographs have been arranged in the ap- 
proximate chronological order of the helmets they il- 
lustrate, and what follows is a brief commentary of 
the types of helmets shown in each photo. In the ab- 
sence of firsthand knowledge of the helmets, it seems 
best to keep the descriptions to a minimum and to let 
the photographs speak for themselves. For ease of 
identification, the helmets in each group are lettered 
consecutively, reading from left to right across the 
top row and then across the bottom. 

12-20. European helmets photographed by Bashford 
Dean in the Military Museum in 1920 

Figure 12 

This group includes the earliest datable helmets 
among those photographed by Dean and is of partic- 
ular interest because several of the helmets corre- 
spond closely to those found at Chalcis, which, as 
noted earlier, fell to the Turks in 1470. While it is 
conceivable that some of the helmets in Istanbul 
might originally have come from Chalcis as booty, 
there is no evidence to substantiate such a claim.16 

The earliest helmet in this group is the second one 
from the left on the top row (b). The tall, conical 
skull is formed of one plate; the point at the apex is 
set slightly to the rear, the nape is deep and bell- 
shaped, and the face-opening is shaped like an in- 
verted U, with a slight depression at the center of the 
brow. A series of closely set rivet holes descends di- 
agonally from the face-opening toward the bottom 
edge and continues around the back; these probably 
served for the attachment of the helmet lining. A sec- 
ond series of more widely spaced holes (some appar- 
ently rusted closed) follows the same line; these for- 
merly held the pierced staples (vervelles) to which 
would have been attached an aventail, a curtainlike 
defense of mail that covered the lower face, neck, 

and shoulders. Two upward-pointing hooks placed 
one above the other are located at the front of the 
skull above the face-opening; these presumably held 
either a nasal or a centrally pivoted visor (Klappvisier). 

Conical helmets fitted with aventails, with or with- 
out nasals or visors, were worn throughout most of 
the fourteenth century and are generally known in 
English as basinets. A very similar basinet is found in 
the Wallace Collection, London, and three others, all 
of them from Chalcis, are found in the Historical 
Museum, Athens, in the Cleveland Museum of Art, 
and in the Metropolitan Museum.17 These examples 
are usually dated to the end of the fourteenth cen- 
tury, a date that would be equally appropriate for the 
basinet in Istanbul. 

Very similar to the basinet are the two deep bar- 
butes (a,c), which differ from the basinet in that they 
were not intended to be worn with an aventail and 
were never fitted with a nasal or visor. Like the basi- 
net, these barbutes tend to be dated to the late four- 
teenth or early fifteenth century.'8 Similar examples 
of this early form of barbute are found among the 
Chalcis material in Athens and New York.19 

Also related to the Chalcis group is the visor- 
less helmet with pointed skull (e), which has a pro- 
nounced vertical ridge, or keel, down the sides and a 
series of holes for lining rivets along the edge. A 
number of barbutes and sallets from Chalcis have 
faceted skulls, a feature rarely found elsewhere.20 
This helmet would appear to be a form of late- 
fourteenth-century basinet, though no holes for the 
vervelles are visible in the photograph. 

This group also includes a "Spanish" sallet (d), a 
distinctive helmet type usually dated to the late 
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fifteenth century. Similar close-fitting head cover- 
ings, distinguished by their cusped face-openings 
and slits at the sides to accommodate the ears, with 
lining holes pierced along the edges, frequently ap- 
pear in Spanish paintings. However, a helmet of this 
type was found among the Chalcis hoard and is 
stamped with an armorer's mark of Italian charac- 
ter.21 It is likely, therefore, that the type was also used 
in Venice and generally earlier than has been 
thought, certainly before 1470. 

Another helmet (g) poses something of a mystery. 
At first glance it might be the skull of a two-part 
"great sallet"-as it is called by Boccia-of a type 
usually associated with the Chalcis armor. This type 
of helmet was constructed of a skull, usually with an 
ogival pointed apex and a cusp over each eye, and, 
riveted along the bottom edge of the skull, a deep 
neck guard, which encircled the sides and back of the 
head and neck.22 The helmet in Dean's photograph, 
however, appears to have a rounded skull, possibly 
ending in a knob at the apex (on the other hand, 
what appears to be a damaged knob may be a blem- 
ish in the fabric in the background or a blemish on 
the negative), with a relatively straight lower edge 
(pierced irregularly with rivet holes) and no indica- 
tion of a face-opening. It is therefore not possible to 
identify it as part of a great sallet, though it is diffi- 
cult to classify the helmet otherwise. 

The last two helmets (f,h) in this group are kettle 
hats, or war hats: wide-brimmed, open-faced helmets 
generally worn by the infantry throughout the later 
Middle Ages and well into the seventeenth century. 
One of these (f), with a rounded skull and down- 
turned brim, has lining holes around the base of the 
skull and an unusual bracketlike feature at one end. 
The form of this helmet points to an origin in the 
fifteenth century, although the presence of the 
bracket suggests that the helmet may have been 
adapted in the seventeenth century with a sliding na- 
sal, a common feature on Turkish and Eastern Euro- 
pean helmets of that period.23 The second war hat 
(h) is unique. Its tall, pointed skull with its dramati- 
cally countercurved, or ogival, profile is a marvel of 
metalworking. The profile of the skull, with its apex 
set almost vertically at the back, calls to mind basinets 
of the late fourteenth or early fifteenth century, al- 
though similar-looking war hats with pointed skulls 
are depicted in paintings over a long period.24 

Figure 13 

This group comprises eight open-faced Italian hel- 
mets of sallet and barbute type, dating from between 
about 1450 and 1500-10. The term "sallet" (from 
the Italian celata) refers to a large category of head 
covering worn throughout the fifteenth century. 
Usually formed from one plate, the sallet generally 
had a rounded profile and was shaped to the back of 
the head, flaring out at the nape to form a short tail. 
The comb was often pierced by a small circular or 
keyhole-shaped aperture for fixing a crest-holder. 
Both deep and shallow variants are common, some 
open-faced, others with visors. A distinctive sub- 
group of the sallet, generally referred to as the bar- 
bute (barbuta in Italian), has a particularly deep 
shape, reaching almost to the shoulders, and a char- 
acteristic T-shaped face-opening invariably rein- 
forced by a riveted-on iron rim.25 This photograph 
illustrates six barbutes (a-d,f,h), three of which re- 
tain the reinforcement at the face-opening. The sal- 
let located third from the left on the bottom row (g) 
is very similar in form to the barbutes nearby, differ- 
ing from them only in its rounded face-opening, the 
edges of which are rolled outward for reinforce- 
ment. Similar barbutes and sallets were found at 
Chalcis, and they can be dated to approximately 
1450-70.26 The sallet at the left on the bottom row 
(e) differs from the other helmets in having the sides 
of the face-opening cut away in a sweeping curve that 
carries back to the nape. The swept profile and the 
tall comb suggest an early-sixteenth-century date.27 
The metal strip that covers the keel of the skull may 
be an old repair, and is reminiscent of a similar re- 
pair made to the skull of a basinet found at Chalcis 
and still preserved in Athens.28 

Figure 14 

Eight more Italian sallets are shown in this photo- 
graph, with a similar range in date between about 
1450 and 1510. The tall sallet, second from the left 
on the top row (b), has a series of holes pierced along 
its edges, probably for the attachment of a fabric 
cover; sallets covered with fabric (usually red velvet) 
and gilt-metal mounts are known from contempo- 
rary records as celate alla veneziana, as they seem to 
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have been a Venetian specialty and continued to be 
worn on ceremonial occasions well into the seven- 
teenth century and apparently even later.29 The first 
three sallets from the left on the bottom row (e,f,g) 
were formerly fitted with visors, of which the right 
pivot, together with a fragment of the visor's arm, re- 
mains on one (g). A similarly shaped sallet skull was 
also found at Chalcis, though it seems never to have 
had a visor.30 The last of the sallets on the bottom 
row (h) is also the latest type in terms of develop- 
ment. The skull is no longer formed of one plate but 
has a separate riveted-on brow reinforce and tail / 
plate. Whereas this distinctly Italian type of infantry 
helmet was common at the end of the fifteenth cen- 
tury, its presence among the Chalcis group indicates 
that it was fully developed by 1470. Twelve helmets 
of this type, only one of them complete in all its 
parts, remain in Athenss3 and, according to Dean's 
notes, there were twenty-eight examples in Istan- 
bul.32 A stack of these sallets, one atop the other, can 
be distinguished in the background of this photo- 
graph and is even more clearly visible in Figure 15. 

Figure 15 

This group comprises six sallets of distinctly north- 
ern European type. Presumably all are of German or 
Austrian manufacture and the majority of them can 
be dated to the last third of the fifteenth century. 14 
Two of the sallets are made in one piece pierced with 
a horizontal sight (a,e). The third helmet from the 
left on the bottom row (f) is of unusually large pro- 
portions and seems to have a hole in the side of the 
skull for a pivoted visor. Two more or less complete 
visored sallets are seen on the top row. The first of 
these (b) is notable for its decoratively cusped brow 
plate and for the exceptional number (five) of tail 
lames. The severe damage to the skull suggests that 
the helmet may have been a battlefield souvenir. The 
second of the visored sallets (c) is also fitted with a 
brow plate and an articulated tail (of which only two 
lames remain), and is notable for the unusual shape 
of its visor, with its sharply arched arm and diagonal 
rear edge. The latest sallet in the group, the first at 
the left on the bottom row (d), is a special kind of 
sallet used in a German form of joust known as the 
Rennen. This helmet, now in the Metropolitan Mu- 
seum, will be discussed below. 
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Figure 16 

This photograph shows six more sallets, all but one 
of which (d) are clearly of German origin and datable 
to about 1460-90. Three of the sallets (b,c,f) retain 
their visors, and two others (a,e) have holes for the 
missing visor pivots. One (a) of the six helmets is still 
in the Military Museum,33 and another (b) was ac- 
quired by Dean and is now in the Kienbusch Collec- 
tion in Philadelphia (discussed below and illustrated 
in Figure 21). It should be noted that each of the vi- 
sored sallets is, or once was, fitted with a spring-catch 
on the right side of the skull by which to lock the vi- 
sor closed. (The visored sallets in Figure 15 [b,c] also 
have this feature.) The third sallet from the left on 
the top row (c) is the latest of these, from about 

1490-1500, as seen from its rather tall, rounded 
skull, narrow visor, and articulated tail.34 The re- 
maining helmet (d), a small visorless sallet with brow 
and neck lames, is of the Italian type already dis- 
cussed under Figure 14. However, its fluted, fan- 
shaped decoration on the side of the skull, the 
cusped upper edge of the brow reinforce, and the 
horizontal ribs across the neck plate and along 
the comb suggest a date later than the others, about 
1500-1o. Fluted surfaces reminiscent of this ex- 
ample are found on several sallets in the Musee de 
l'Armee, Paris, and in the Wallace Collection, Lon- 
don, all of which have etched and gilt decoration in 
the style of the early sixteenth century.35 The ex- 
ample in Istanbul may also have similar decoration, 
though it is not visible in Dean's photograph. 

Figure 17 

Eight German helmets of visored-sallet and close- 
helmet types, dating from about 1490 to 1520, are 
illustrated in this photograph. The sallet fourth from 
the left on the upper row (d), the earliest of the 
group, about 1490-95, is now in the Metropolitan 
Museum and will be discussed below. The group in- 
cludes five examples (b,c,f,g,h) of a peculiar form of 
German sallet, about 1500-10, each with a high, 
rounded skull, articulated tail, and a large, one-piece 
pivoted visor. It will be noted that each visor is dis- 
tinctively different. Two of these helmets (b,g) are 
now in the Metropolitan Museum and are discussed 
below. The two remaining helmets (a,e) are close hel- 
mets, a type in which the front of the skull is closed 
by a visor (covering the face) and a bevor (covering 
the chin and neck), both of which pivot on the same 
rivets at the sides of the skull. Both close helmets are 
now missing their bevors. The earlier of the two (e) 
has a smooth, almost globular skull similar to that 
of the adjacent sallets and is also related to them in 
having had an articulated tail, now lost. The bellows- 
shaped visor is a more modern feature, one that ap- 
parently developed from the sallet visors (as on hel- 
mets b and f). This helmet (e) is datable to about 
1510. The second close helmet (a) is more character- 
istic of the "Maximilian" style of German armor worn 
about 1505-30, the distinguishing trait of which is its 
fluted surfaces. (A complete armor decorated in this 
manner is illustrated in Figure 39.) This close helmet 
is considerably more developed than the first, having 
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a roped comb and groups of flutes on the rear half 
of the skull, with the lower edge of the skull boxed 
out so as to rotate on the gorget. The bellows visor is 
also more developed than that on the earlier ex- 
ample and is more characteristic of Maximilian hel- 
mets dating from about 1520. 

Figure 18 

This group shows a variety of German helmets 
dating from 1510-25. Two (a,f) are armets, a type of 
visored helmet in which the hinged cheek plates close 
at the front of the chin. The others are of close hel- 
met type. Both exhibit a variety of visor shapes: the 
pointed "sparrow's beak" (a,c,d); the boxed, so-called 
monkey-face form (g); two variations on the bellows 
visor (e,f); and a rounded visor (b).36 This last, a 
Western European type, is rarely found on German 
helmets, although it was used on several occasions by 
the Helmschmid family of armorers at Augsburg in 
the 152os and 153os.37 

Figure 19 

Eight helmets of different types, all of them Ger- 
man and dating from the first half of the sixteenth 
century, are illustrated here. These include one with 
a rounded visor and articulated tail (f); three fluted 
close helmets of "Maximilian" type with boxed visors 
(a,e,h); a helmet of armet construction with a bellows 
visor (g); a close helmet (b) of about 1530, with a 
roped comb and a large, sharply pointed one-piece 
visor embossed with a curved lower edge beneath the 
breaths; a fragmentary open helmet of burgonet 
type (c), with peak and hinged cheek plates; and a 
burgonet (d) with three raised and roped combs on 
the skull and large hinged cheekpieces. This last is 
probably the latest in date of the eight helmets, about 
1550. 

Figure 20 

The last of Dean's photographs shows seven hel- 
mets of diverse types, origins, and dates. On the up- 
per tier is an Italian armet (a), now lacking its visor, 
that dates to about 1470-80; a fragmentary Polish or 
Hungarian open helmet of Zischigge type (b), about 
165o, with ribbed skull fitted with decorative star- 
shaped rivets and a long tail of seven lames; and a 
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German close helmet (c) with an articulated tail dat- 
ing from about 1530. On the bottom row are four 
burgonets of similar form, of which at least two (e,g) 
are decorated with crossed palm branches embossed 
on the sides of the skull; all four lack their cheek- 
pieces. These helmets, which are of Italian form and 
probably date from the mid-sixteenth century, were 
presumably part of the equipment of a nobleman's 
bodyguard. Two other examples apparently from the 
same series are found in the Museo Poldi Pezzoli, 
Milan,38 and in the Museo Stibbert, Florence.39 It is 
interesting that the examples in Milan and Florence 
also lack their cheekpieces-a circumstance that 
leads one to wonder if they might originally have 
come to Italy from Istanbul in 1839-40. 

BASHFORD DEAN'S FIVE HELMETS 

The photographs taken by Bashford Dean in Istan- 
bul in 1920 constitute the only evidence by which the 
Turkish provenance for the five helmets he acquired 
from the Military Museum can be established, as 
none of them is stamped with the so-called arsenal 
mark. Moreover, the photographs document the 
original condition of the helmets prior to their resto- 
ration in New York. 

The earliest of the helmets is the visored sallet, of 
about 1460, that now forms part of a composite 
"Gothic" armor in the Kienbusch Collection in the 
Philadelphia Museum of Art (Figure 21).40 The skull 
has a rounded profile and is drawn out at the back 
into a short, pointed tail; a low keel-shaped comb 
across the top is pierced at the apex with a circular 
hole for a crest. The nine fluted rivet heads encir- 
cling the skull originally secured a canvas strap on 
the inside to which the padded lining was sewn. (As 
is usual on most helmets of this date, the lining is no 
longer preserved.) The two rivets at the tail presum- 
ably secured a loop through which a strap was 
threaded; this strap, which also passed through loops 
riveted at each side of the skull and tied beneath the 
chin, thus held the helmet firmly on the wearer's 
head. The large one-piece visor covering the face- 
opening is pierced with a horizontal sight. The visor 
rotates at the sides of the skull and is fastened closed 
on the right side by a spring catch. The lower edge 
of the skull and visor are rolled outward for rein- 
forcement. 

Visored sallets of this general shape were the typi- 
cal head covering in Germany and Western Europe 
(France, the Netherlands, and England) during the 
second half of the fifteenth century, although similar 
helmets in the German fashion (alla tedesca) were also 

21. 
Sallet, probably German, 

"s> ,^~ ~ ca. 1460. Philadelphia Mu- 
seum of Art, Bequest of 
Carl Otto von Kienbusch, 
acc. no. 1977-167-1 (photo: 
Philadelphia Museum of 
Art) 
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22. Sallet, German (Augsburg), ca. 1495. Probably 
made for Emperor Maximilian I (1459-1519) by his 
court armorer Lorenz Helmschmid of Augsburg. 
The Metropolitan Museum of Art, Bashford Dean 
Memorial Collection, Gift of Edward S. Harkness, 
1929, 29.156.45 

made by Italian armorers for export to the northern 
markets. Indeed, the compact form and the empha- 
sis on the vertical rather than horizontal profile be- 
speak a strong Italian influence; comparable sallets 
bearing Milanese or Brescian marks are (or were for- 
merly) found in the ancestral armory at Churburg 
Castle,41 in the north Italian Tirol. On the other 
hand, the presence of a spring catch securing the vi- 
sor to the skull (a feature found on northern Euro- 
pean sallets but rarely on Italian examples) and the 
absence of an armorer's mark (Italian armorers 
stamped their products with their personal or shop 
marks more consistently than did their northern 
counterparts) suggest that this sallet was probably 
made in Germany under Italian influence.42 

Dean's photograph of the sallet (Figure i6b) serves 
as a useful record of the badly rusted condition in 

23. The front of the sallet shown in Figure 22 

which he found it. Subsequent restoration involved 
the reinforcement of the breaks in the lower right 
edge of the skull and visor and the replacement of 
missing lining rivets. The original visor pivots, with 
their large flat heads, were replaced by modern ones 
of rosette shape. The spring catch on the right side 
of the skull is old, but the push button is a restora- 
tion. The extensive surface corrosion, visible on all 
the helmets in Istanbul, has been removed, though 
the polishing was not so extensive as to eliminate all 
traces of patination. Several welded repairs to close 
rust holes are also visible inside the skull and visor. 

The second of Dean's helmets, which appears in 
Figure 7d, is now in the Metropolitan Museum (Fig- 
ures 22, 23).43 At first glance, it appears to be a typi- 
cal German sallet with a pivoting half-visor. It is 
unusual, however, in that the bevor (the plates pro- 
tecting the lower face and neck regions), which 
in a sallet was usually a separate element of armor 
strapped around the wearer's neck or fixed at the top 
of his breastplate, is directly attached to the sallet and 
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rotates on the same pivots as the visor. Both the visor 
and bevor are locked in a closed position by separate 
spring catches on the right side. This construction 
foreshadows the appearance of the close helmet in 
the early sixteenth century. The right side of the vi- 
sor retains about six inches of the applied border of 
gilt brass decoratively pierced in a crocketed (fleurde- 
lise) design; holes along the tail of the sallet indicate 
that this border originally extended completely 
around the edges of the skull as well. The lower 
lames of the bevor are missing. 

The Metropolitan Museum's sallet has been de- 
scribed and discussed in detail in an article by 
A. V. B. Norman, who noted that its construction is 
exactly like that of two sallets in the Waffensamm- 
lung, Vienna, both of which were made for Maximi- 
lian I (1459-1519, King of the Romans from 1486, 
emperor from 1508) by Lorenz Helmschmid in 
about 1495.44 Whereas neither of the Vienna helmets 
has an applied brass border, similar borders are 
found on several armors in the same collection-ar- 
mors that were made by Helmschmid for Maximilian 
and for his uncle Archduke Sigmund (1427-96) dur- 
ing the last two decades of the fifteenth century. The 
features of construction and decoration of the Mu- 

24. Sallet, German, ca. 1500-10. The Metropolitan Mu- 
seum of Art, Bashford Dean Memorial Collection, 
Bequest of Bashford Dean, 1929, 29.150.4a 

seum's sallet leave little doubt that the helmet comes 
from the same Augsburg workshop and was quite 
likely made for Maximilian himself. The intriguing 
question of how the future emperor's helmet might 
have come into Turkish possession will be addressed 
below. 

Two other helmets now in the Metropolitan Mu- 
seum can also be identified among the Istanbul pho- 
tographs (Figure 17b,g). Both are German sallets 
with tall, rounded skulls shaped to the head, articu- 
lated tails, and large, one-piece visors pierced with 
horizontal sights and turned under at the chin. Data- 
ble to about 1500-10, they represent the latest form 
of the sallet before it was superseded by the close hel- 
met. One of these (Figures 24, 25)45 has a wide, 
slightly rounded comb worked in a series of raised 
ribs that are arranged in a chevron pattern pointing 
to the front; the comb is pierced at the center by a 
small circular hole for a crest. Spreading across the 
rear half of the skull are eight raised ribs with en- 
graved outlines, four on either side of the comb. The 
skull is sharply boxed at the back, as is seen in a pro- 
file view, and its bottom edge is reinforced with an 
outward turn. The skull was originally encircled by a 
series of twelve iron lining rivets, the five at the front 
(beneath the visor) set flush with the exterior surface, 
the seven at the back with domed brass caps. Of the 

25. The front of the sallet shown in Figure 24 
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26. Sallet, German, ca. 1500-10. The Metropolitan Mu- 
seum of Art, Bashford Dean Memorial Collection, 
Funds from various donors, 1929, 29.158.27 

later helmet, one brass-capped rivet is now missing at 
the back, and only four or five of the remaining six 
are original. The articulated tail, comprising four 
lames overlapping downward, is original. The bot- 
tom lame has an outward-turned edge and is pierced 
by two holes through which the bottom of the lining 
was tied. 

The large visor is of an unusual form that gives it 
an almost menacing appearance. It is pierced by two 
side-by-side horizontal sights, and below these it is 
boxed outward into two bulbous horizontal sections, 
which are pierced by a series of horizontal and verti- 
cal ventilation holes; the horizontal piercings are 
framed by engraved lines. At the base of the visor, a 
crescent-shaped plate is riveted on the inside to nar- 
row the gap between the neck and the lower edge of 
the visor. A series of V-shaped notches cut into the 
right edge of the visor indicates that the helmet was 
originally equipped with a small pivoted fork by 
which to prop the visor open. This fork, which would 
have rotated on one of the lining rivets, is now miss- 
ing. The visor is secured to the skull by a spring-op- 
erated catch on the right side. 

The sallet is genuine in all its basic parts, including 

27. The front of the sallet shown in Figure 26 

the spring catch, as can be verified from Dean's pho- 
tograph. An examination of the piece shows evidence 
of old repairs-perhaps made during its working 
life-on the lower right side of the skull, to which a 
new piece of metal has been added, and at the left 
bottom edge as well. Under Dean's direction, further 
repairs were made in New York: a number of patches 
were added to close the rust holes in the skull; 
patches were also added to reinforce breaks in the 
tail lames; and the missing rivets were replaced. 

The second of the sallets (Figures 26, 27)46 has a 
rounded skull without a comb and is decorated on 
the rear half with a spray of seven raised and pointed 
ribs with engraved outlines. Fourteen lining rivets 
encircle the skull; all but the two under the visor 
were originally brass-capped. Judging from Dean's 
photograph and from the one brass rivet-cap that re- 
mains on the left side of the skull, the caps around 
the back of the skull were originally quite prominent 
and decorative. Four circular holes are pierced at the 
sides of the skull, presumably to facilitate hearing, 
and two more holes are pierced at the center of the 
back, perhaps for laces by which to secure the lining. 
This helmet is less well preserved than the previous 
one: the lower edge of the skull on either side is re- 
paired with new metal; the tail lames, missing in the 
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28. Banner of Emperor Maximilian I, showing the im- 
perial eagle emblazoned with the arms of Austria, 
and the cross of St. Andrew and the fire steels of the 
Order of the Golden Fleece. Austrian, ca. 1515. Vi- 
enna, Waffensammlung des Kunsthistorischen Mu- 
seums, inv. no. A 146 (photo: Kunsthistorisches 
Museum) 

29. Imperial troops bearing the cross of St. Andrew. De- 
tail from a woodcut illustration to Der Weiss Kunig, 
completed about 1516 (first printed edition Vienna, 
1775). Thomas J. Watson Library, The Metropolitan 
Museum of Art 
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photograph of 1920, have since been restored; and 
the visor pivots have been replaced. 

Unlike the previous example, this helmet is fitted 
with a half-visor, so that the wearer peers between 
the lower edge of the brow and upper edge of the 
visor. The form of the visor is unusual in that it is 
boxed outward below the sight, with a sharp vertical 
keel down the center. The "shelf' that is formed 
under the sight is pierced by three holes (two over 
one), and each side of the visor has twelve ventilation 
holes arranged in an X-shape, or saltire; the bottom 
hole on each of the outer arms of the X is filled with 
a brass-capped iron rivet, one of a row of seven rivets 
near the bottom edge of the visor. Below this row are 
seventeen close-set holes. Presumably these rivets 
and holes secured some sort of chin pad.47 The visor 
rotates at the side of the skull and is closed on the 
right side by the original spring catch. 

Apart from its unusual form, this helmet is of spe- 
cial interest because the saltire arrangement of the 
visor's ventilation holes can be interpreted as a cross 
of St. Andrew, a Burgundian emblem and part of the 
insignia of the Order of the Golden Fleece.48 This 
Order was founded by Philip the Good, Duke of 
Burgundy, in 1430, with St. Andrew as its patron. 
The Burgundian territories included the Low Coun- 
tries, and with the marriage in 1477 of Archduke 
Maximilian of Austria (later Emperor Maximilian I) 
to Mary, daughter of Duke Charles the Bold of Bur- 
gundy and heiress to the Burgundian lands, the 
Netherlandish provinces became an imperial fief. 
The Burgundian traditions, ceremonies, and accou- 
trements (including the Order of the Golden Fleece) 
were likewise appropriated by the Holy Roman Em- 
perors. The various elements of the insignia of the 
Order-St. Andrew's cross, the fire steels and bri- 
quets striking sparks, not to mention the Fleece it- 
self-were widely used as imperial emblems or cog- 
nizances (Figure 28). The most common of these was 
the saltire-shaped cross, which is frequently found in 
the woodcut illustrations of Der Weisskunig (The White 
King, an allegorical "autobiography" of Emperor 
Maximilian I) to distinguish imperial troops from 
their enemies in the field (Figure 29). 

A number of armors dating from between 1490 
and 1510 display Burgundian crosses in their deco- 
ration. Arranged in chronological order, they in- 
clude: the armor of Philip the Handsome (1478- 
1506), King of Castile, made by Lorenz Helmschmid 



of Augsburg in about 1495-1500, in the Waffen- 
sammlung, Vienna (Figure 30);49 a Rennzeug of Max- 
imilian I attributed to Innsbruck manufacture, about 
1500, also in Vienna (Figure 31);50 a chanfron be- 
longing to a horse armor made for Philip the Hand- 
some, a Flemish work of about 1505, in the Real Ar- 
meria, Madrid;51 the armor of Wolfgang von Polheim 
(1458-1512), made in Innsbruck about 1510, in Vi- 
enna;52 a breastplate of German or Austrian manu- 
facture, about 1510, in the Royal Armouries, H. M. 
Tower of London;53 an Italian breastplate of about 

30. Armor of Philip the Handsome of Castile, by Lo- 
renz Helmschmid, German (Augsburg), ca. 1495. 
Vienna, Waffensammlung des Kunsthistorischen 
Museums, inv. no. A 7 (photo: Kunsthistorisches 
Museum) 

1500-10 in the Odescalchi collection, Rome;54 and 
another, of about 1515, in the Royal Armouries;55 
the armor for the young Archduke Charles (later 
Emperor Charles V), made by the Innsbruck ar- 
morer Konrad Seusenhofer in about 1512-14, in Vi- 
enna;56 and the famous "Burgundian bard" in the 
Royal Armouries,57 a horse armor bearing the arms 
of Burgundy that is presumed to have formed a gift 
from Emperor Maximilian to Henry VIII of En- 
gland, and which is probably of Flemish manufac- 
ture, about 1515-20. 

31. Rennzeug of Emperor Maximilian I, Innsbruck, ca. 
1500. Vienna, Waffensammlung des Kunst- 
historischen Museums, inv. no. S. VII (photo: 
Kunsthistorisches Museum) 
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33. The front of the sallet shown in 
Figure 32 
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32. Sallet (Rennhut), here identified as having belonged 
to Louis II, King of Hungary and Bohemia and at- 
tributed to Kolman Helmschmid, German (Augs- 
burg), ca. 1522-26. The Metropolitan Museum of 
Art, Bashford Dean Memorial Collection, Gift of 
Mr. and Mrs. Alexander McMillan Welch, 1929, 
29.156.45 

On the majority of these armors the cross of St. 
Andrew occurs as part of the full insignia of the Or- 
der of the Golden Fleece. This is perfectly logical, as 
the identifiable owners of the principal harnesses 
were members of the Order (as sovereigns of the 
House of Hapsburg, Philip the Handsome, Maximi- 
lian I, and Charles V were also successive Grand 
Masters of the Order). It should be noted, however, 
that on the armor of Philip the Handsome (Figure 
30), on Maximilian's Rennzeug (Figure 31), on the 
Polheim armor, and on the Italian breastplates in the 
Royal Armouries and in the Odescalchi collection, 
the cross appears as a simple saltire on the breast- 
plate. In the light of these examples, there can be 
little doubt that the prominent saltires found on the 
visor of the Museum's helmet from Istanbul were in- 
tended to identify its owner as a knight in imperial 
service, if not a member of the Order of the Golden 
Fleece. 

The last and chronologically latest of Dean's five 

helmets is by far the most intriguing. It is a Rennhut 
(Figures 32-35), a special form of sallet for use in the 
German joust known as the Rennen, which was 
fought between two mounted combatants armed with 
sharp lances. The Rennen and the Gestech (the joust 
with blunted lances) were the two principal forms of 
joust practiced in German-speaking Central Europe 
in the second half of the fifteenth century, and each 
required armor of a special type. The complete ar- 
mor for the Rennen (the Rennzeug) consisted of a sal- 
let; a bevor covering the lower face and neck which 
was bolted in a fixed position to the breastplate; a 
breastplate with long tassets, the breast's right side 
being flattened to take a lance rest with a backward- 
projecting arm (queue) that gave additional support 
to the lance; and an X-shaped backplate used merely 
to give support to the breast. Armor for the shoul- 
ders, arms, and hands was unnecessary, as the entire 
left side was covered by a large capelike shield (the 
Renntartsche) bolted to the breastplate, and the right 
arm by the large protective plate (vamplate) that fit- 
ted around the shank of the lance directly in front of 
the hand. Leg armor was similarly unnecessary, as 
the thighs and lances were protected by fitted plates 
known as tilting sockets (in German, Dilgen), which 
were suspended from the saddle. The complete pan- 
oply is illustrated in Figures 31, 36, and 41. 
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The Rennhut in the Metropolitan Museum is a de- 
velopment from this Late Gothic type of sporting 
helmet, but its construction and decoration indicate 
a sixteenth-century date. Unlike the late-fifteenth- 
century Rennhut, invariably made in one piece with a 
long, pointed tail, the Museum's example is con- 
structed of two plates: a domed skull pierced by a 
horizontal sight, and a separate riveted-on tail. The 
skull has a double-ridged comb, concave down the 
center, framed by a border of etched zigzag lines. 
The comb is overlaid with a gutter-shaped reinforc- 
ing plate, concave at the front end and pointed at the 
back, which covers all but the front five inches of the 
comb. It is etched down the center with foliate 
scrolls, a cornucopia, a wing, and a bonneted female 
head on a dotted black ground; at the center two 
threaded holes have been drilled to accommodate a 
crest. The sides of this reinforcing plate are worked 

as a roped band, the twists etched with crescents and 
gilt. At the top of the skull, on either side of the 
comb, is a semicircular recessed field. The rear half 
of the skull is vertically fluted in the so-called Maxi- 
milian style, with the concave areas divided by raised 
ribs with engraved outlines. The front half of the 
skull is smooth, though it appears to be fluted be- 
cause the raised ribs have been simulated by etched 
lines. A smooth surface in the forehead region was 
required because it was originally covered by a pair 
of arched reinforcing plates that served as a target to 
be struck off with a well-aimed lance blow. These 
plates were held in place by studs on either side of 
the sight (still present) and by a forked spring riveted 
at the front of the crest (now missing). Plates of this 
type, and the fixtures securing them, are shown 
mounted on the sallets illustrated in Figures 31, 36, 
and 37. 

34. The back of the sallet shown in Figure 32 

35. 
Detail of the etched decoration 
on the comb of the sallet 
shown in Figure 32 
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36. Hans Burgkmair (1473-1531), "Bundrennen," a 
woodcut from The Triumph of Maximilian I. The Met- 
ropolitan Museum of Art, Harris Brisbane Dick 
Fund, 1932, 32.37 

Around the sides of the skull are a series of twelve 
round-topped arches, the four at the front flat (to ac- 
commodate the reinforcing plates), the remaining 
ones in low relief. The arched areas are etched with 
foliage on a dotted black ground; a monogram 
formed by the conjoined letters L and M alternates 
with motifs of harpies or trophies of arms. Below the 
arches runs a horizontal band of foliage on a dotted 
ground that was once completely gilt. A band of or- 
nament in imitation of roping, gilt on a dotted 
ground, is etched around the edge at the front. 

The tail plate has a strong median ridge and its 
end is cut almost straight across. Etched along its top 
edge is a band of scrolling foliage with cornucopias 
on a dotted black ground; a zigzag border follows the 
lower edge of the band. Extending down the center 
of the tail is a branch of acanthus foliage. Riveted 
along the right side of the tail is part of an applied 
border of gilt iron in the form of a continuous series 
of balusters, with a six-petaled rosette at the front 
end that covers the join of the skull and tail plates. 
This applied band originally extended around the 
edges and, to judge from the numerous rivet holes 
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37. Sallet for the Bundrennen, by Matthes Deutsch, Ger- 
man (Landshut), about 1495. Paris, Musee de 
l'Armee, inv. no. G. 1 (photo: Musme de l'Armee) 

that remain in that area, apparently continued half- 
way up the center of the tail. The series of holes on 
the rear half of the skull, and larger ones at the sides 
of the tail plate (just below the rivets that hold the 
tail to the skull) were intended for laces that secured 
the heavily padded lining (now lost). 

Two closed holes at the front of the sallet, below 
the sight, suggest that it was probably once fitted with 
a fixture for a roller. (A small plate riveted inside the 
front of the sallet presumably gave support to this 
fixture.) Sallets with rollers seem to have been in- 
tended for use in a rare form of joust known as 
Bundrennen. In this sport, a large shield of leather- 
covered wood, the Renntartsche, was affixed to an in- 
geniously designed "mechanical" breastplate fitted 
with springs and rollers; when the shield was prop- 
erly hit, it would be ejected from the breastplate and 
fly up and over the jouster's head. The roller at- 
tached at the front of the sallet presumably facili- 
tated an easier discharge of the Renntartsche.5 One of 
Hans Burgkmair the Elder's woodcut illustrations 
from The Triumph of Maximilian shows the equipment 
worn in such a joust (Figure 36). Only two sallets fit- 
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ted with rollers (one of which is shown in Figure 37) 
and three mechanical breastplates are known; this 
suggests that the Bundrennen was an extremely rare 
tournament game, probably one that took place only 
in the imperial court.59 

Since Bashford Dean's acquisition of this helmet in 
1920, it has been catalogued as the work of the Nu- 
remberg armorer Kunz Lochner and dated to about 
1545, and the ML-or LM-monogram identified as 
that of Moritz of Leipzig.60 However, renewed stylis- 
tic analysis of the helmet's form and decoration now 
suggests that it was produced by a different armorer 
working elsewhere in Germany in an earlier period, 
and a more careful study of the monogram has 
yielded an entirely new, and more defensible, identi- 
fication of the sallet's original owner. 

Several features of the helmet suggest that it was 
made about twenty years earlier than the traditional 
date of 1545. The fluted skull reflects the so-called 
Maximilian style of armor popular in Germany be- 
tween about 1505 and 1530; by 1545 fluted decora- 
tion had been out of fashion for more than a decade. 
The presence of an applied decorative border 
around the tail recalls the same Late Gothic tradition 
evidenced by the Museum's sallet of about 1495 (Fig- 
ures 22, 23), and thus suggests a date earlier, rather 
than later, in the sixteenth century. The border on 
the Rennhut differs, however, from that on the earlier 
sallet in that it is of gilded iron rather than of brass, 
and its robust baluster form reflects the influence of 
the Italian Renaissance without any trace of florid 
Late Gothic design. No other sixteenth-century Renn- 
hut with an applied decorative border of this type is 
known. 

The Rennhut's narrow bands of etched decoration 
also suggest a date in the 1520s. The ornamental mo- 
tifs, particularly the repeated harpies, reflect the 
influence of Daniel Hopfer (ca. 1470-1536), the fa- 
mous Augsburg printmaker. Hopfer etched not only 
iron plates for graphic reproductions but also armor. 
Hopfer's signature is found on only one piece, a tilt- 
ing targe dated 1536 in the Real Armeria, Madrid,61 
but a number of other armors, most of them from 
the Helmschmid workshop in Augsburg, are etched 
in the so-called Hopfer style. James Mann character- 
ized the ornamental motifs found on these har- 
nesses: "They all show foliage or candelabrum orna- 
ment intermixed with grotesque birds and beasts, 
putti and harpies, all vigorously drawn and deeply 
etched on a granular ground on which the grains are 

not all similar in size nor too closely placed. These 
etched compositions have in common certain note- 
worthy details, such as a wriggling tendril, a certain 
globe-like ornament, and a characteristic snub-nosed 
harpy or cherub in profile, and sometimes a tablet 
with Roman numerals, probably indicating a date."62 
Many of these motifs appear in the margins of Hop- 
fer's prints, such as in his portrait of Charles V (Fig- 
ure 38). 

The best examples of Hopfer-style etching on ar- 
mor are found on the harnesses made in the work- 
shop of Kolman Helmschmid (1470/71-1532), Augs- 
burg's leading armorer in the first third of the 
sixteenth century.63 The son of Lorenz Helmschmid, 
Emperor Maximilian I's favorite armorer, Kolman 
produced work that typifies German Renaissance ar- 
mor design in much the same way that his father's 
armors capture the spirit of the Late Gothic. Kol- 

38. Daniel Hopfer (ca. 1470-1536). Emperor Charles V. 
Etching, 22.4 x 15.3 cm. The Metropolitan Mu- 
seum of Art, Gift of Junius S. Morgan, 1919, 
19.52.19 



39. Armor of Bernard Meuting of Augsburg, attributed 
to Kolman Helmschmid, German (Augsburg), ca. 
1525. Vienna, Waffensammlung des Kunsthisto- 
rischen Museums, inv. no. A 235 (photo: Kunsthis- 
torisches Museum) 
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40-41. Helmet and upper half of the breastplate of the 
armor of Bernard Meuting illustrated in Figure 39 
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man's patrons and customers were the leading 
princes of Europe: the Hapsburgs, including Maxi- 
milian himself, Charles V (1500-58, emperor from 
1519), and Charles's brother Ferdinand I (1503-64, 
King of Bohemia from 1526, emperor from 1558); 
members of the imperial court, such as Count An- 
dreas von Sonnenburg (died 1511), Count Eitel 
Friedrich II von Zollern (died 1512), and Wilhelm 
von Roggendorf (1481-1541); other German 
princes, such as Albrecht of Brandenburg (1490- 
1568); and Italian patrons, notably Gianfrancesco II 
Gonzaga (1466-1519) and his son Federigo II 
(1500-40, duke from 1530), rulers of Mantua. A 
comparison of the decoration found on some of Kol- 
man's armors, such as that of the Augsburg patrician 
Bernard Meuting (Figures 39-41),64 shows the char- 
acteristic Hopfer-style etching, which is also found 
on the Museum's sallet. The ornament includes not 
only the snub-nosed harpies but also the large- 
petaled flowers and the cornucopias and wings 
within the foliate ornament, as well as the zigzag line 
along the edges of the etched areas. One notices on 
the Meuting armor, as well as on other armors by 
Kolman, what may be a distinctive detail of his work- 
shop: the closely set crescents etched on the roped 
turnovers at the edges. The presence of these cres- 
cents on the roped edge of the reinforce on the sallet 
further suggests that it is the work of Kolman 
Helmschmid. 

Kolman's surviving oeuvre does not include a 
Rennzeug, though the armorer is recorded as having 
made several of them. In 1525 he received payment 
for a Rennzeug ordered by Albrecht of Brandenburg, 
Grand Master of the Teutonic Order and Duke of 
Prussia.65 Visual evidence survives for a second Renn- 
zeug, one with fluted decoration, in the so-called 
Thun Sketchbook (Figure 42), a volume of pen and 
wash designs for armor believed to have originated 
in the Helmschmid workshop. This particular draw- 
ing has been identified by Ortwin Gamber as repre- 
senting a Rennzeug made by Kolman around 1525 for 
Ferdinand I.66 

Whereas Kolman evidently made few Rennzeuge 
and Stechzeuge (specialized armors for the Gestech, or 
joust with blunted lances) of the traditional late- 
fifteenth-century type, the workshops of his father 
Lorenz and of his uncle Jorg yielded dozens of these 
armors for the sporting contests sponsored by Maxi- 
milian I.67 What must be the latest of Lorenz 

42. Pen and watercolor drawing showing elements of a 
Rennzeug. From the Thun Sketchbook, Codex a/8, 
formerly in the library of the counts Thun- 
Hohenstein at Tetschen, Bohemia (missing since 
1945) 

Helmschmid's Rennzeuge, of which only the sallet and 
the right tilting socket are preserved, was formerly in 
the Mus6e de l'Armee, Paris (Figures 43, 44).68 The 
surfaces are decorated alternately with S-shaped and 
chevron-shaped recesses, etched and gilt with a chain 
motif, in imitation of the puffed and slashed mi-parti 
civilian costume of the first third of the sixteenth 
century. So-called costume armors enjoyed a limited 
vogue between 1510 and 1530, and this seems to be a 
unique example of a Rennzeug decorated in this fash- 
ion. Lorenz's mark (a tilting helm surmounted by a 
cross), long overlooked,69 is stamped on the socket's 
upper border. This armor must have been made at 
the very end of his life (born in 1445, Lorenz died in 
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43-44. Sallet (Rennhut) and tilting socket (Dilge) for the 
Rennen, by Lorenz Helmschmid, German (Augs- 
burg), ca. 1515-16. Formerly in Paris, Musee de 
l'Armee, inv. nos. H. 51 and G. 536 (photos: Mus6e 
de l'Arm6e) 

1516), perhaps about 1515-16, when the work of the 
two Helmschmids, father and son, became very simi- 
lar.70 In fact, were it not for the presence of the fa- 
ther's mark on the socket, these two pieces could 
quite reasonably be attributed to Kolman. A compar- 
ison of the sallet formerly in Paris and that in the 
Metropolitan Museum shows the general similarity 
of shape (especially the bulbous skull), construction 
(note the method of joining the tail plate to the 
skull), and decoration (the sculptural band applied to 
the tail, the zigzag borders around the etched areas, 
108 

and the crescents etched on every other band on the 
roped borders). The two works were evidently made 
in the same family workshop and not very distant in 
time from one another. 

To summarize, the Museum's sallet can be attrib- 
uted with reasonable certainty to the workshop of 
Kolman Helmschmid of Augsburg, about 1520-25, 
an attribution based on the comparison of the hel- 
met's form, construction, and decoration with other 
harnesses by that armorer. In addition, a new identi- 
fication of the helmet's original owner further con- 
firms its date and illuminates its history. 

After acquiring this helmet in 1920, Bashford 
Dean identified the etched monogram as that of 
Moritz of Leipzig, that is, Elector Moritz of Saxony 
(1521-53, Prince-Elector from 1541). This attribu- 
tion was apparently inspired by the row of arches 
encircling the skull, which reminded Dean of the 
upturned ermine edges of an elector's bonnet (Kur- 
furstenhut);7' with this in mind, Dean apparently 
sought out a likely candidate whose initials corre- 
sponded to those in the monogram. Although arched 
fields of this kind do not occur on any other helmet, 
the motif does not seem to be an intentional allusion 
to the electoral bonnet. Furthermore, a monogram 
of this kind, consisting of two conjoined letters, usu- 
ally refers to a husband and wife (Moritz married 
Agnes, daughter of Landgrave Philipp of Hesse, in 
1541) rather than to a ruler's titles. In any case, there 
is no contemporary evidence that this Elector of Sax- 
ony was closely associated with the city of Leipzig; on 
the contrary, he was strongly identified with the city 
of Meissen and was at one time referred to as Moritz 
von Meissen.72 It may be pointed out that the elec- 
toral insignia (the crossed swords, symbols of the 
elector's position as Archmarshal of the Empire) and 
the arms of Saxony are also conspicuously absent. 
The total lack of evidence for a connection with Elec- 
tor Moritz of Saxony, and the revised dating of the 
helmet to 1520-25-a date much too early for Mor- 
itz-proves that Dean's interpretation of the mono- 
gram was wide of the mark. 

The solution to the identification of the monogram 
on the Museum's helmet is found on a silver thaler 
issued in 1525 by Louis II (1506-26), King of Hun- 
gary and Bohemia (Figures 45, 46).7 The king is 
shown on horseback on the obverse, with both man 
and steed in full armor; on the reverse are the arms 
of Hungary and Bohemia beneath a royal crown, the 
monogram comprising the letters L and M, and 



45. Silver coin (thaler), Austrian (Kremnitz), 1525; ob- 
verse with the equestrian portrait of Louis II, King 
of Hungary and Bohemia. Vienna, Kunsthisto- 
risches Museum, Sammlung von Medaillen, Mun- 
zen und Geldzeichen, inv. no. 197.153 (photo: 
Kunsthistorisches Museum) 

seven crowned shields containing the arms of the 
duchies in Louis's domain. The monogram is exactly 
like that on the Museum's helmet and refers to Louis 
and his wife, Maria of Hapsburg (1505-58), better 
known as Mary of Hungary, the daughter of Philip 
the Handsome of Castile, whom Louis married in Vi- 
enna on January 13, 1522. There can be little doubt 
that the sallet is that of Louis II, and that it can be 
dated to between 1522 and 1526. 

History has relatively little to say about this short- 
lived monarch. He was the firstborn son of Ladislas 
Jagiello, King of Hungary and Bohemia. In a pact 
concluded with Maximilian I at Wiener Neustadt in 
1506, Ladislas agreed to the future union of the 
House of Hapsburg with that of his own, promising 
the hand of his daughter Anna to Maximilian's 
grandson Archduke Ferdinand of Austria and that 
of his as yet unborn son, Louis, to Archduchess 
Maria, Maximilian's granddaughter.74 The union 
took place in Vienna in July 1515, with the formal 
betrothal of the two couples. Reaching his majority in 
1521, Louis married Maria in Vienna early the next 
year. His reign was brief and undistinguished and is 
best remembered for its tragic end. 

The reign of Louis II coincided with the ascension 
of Siileyman the Magnificent (1494-1566) to the Ot- 
toman throne (1520) and with it a renewed Turkish 
threat to Europe.75 Taking advantage of the political 

46. Reverse of the thaler in Figure 45, with the crowned 
arms of Hungary and Bohemia and the monogram 
of Louis II and his wife, Maria of Austria, sur- 
rounded by the arms of Louis's duchies 

rivalries between Francois I of France and Emperor 
Charles V, which divided the continent, the sultan 
launched a series of remarkably successful attacks on 
the eastern flank of the Empire.The fall of Belgrade, 
on August 29, 1521, afforded the Turks a foothold 
on the rich Danube region, and on December 21, 
1522, the capture of Rhodes completed Turkish 
domination of the Aegean. Siileyman invaded Hun- 
gary in the spring of 1526 and on August 29 he faced 
the Hungarian army, led by Louis II, on the battle- 
field of Mohacs. Poorly led, ill-equipped, and greatly 
outnumbered, the Hungarian troops were com- 
pletely routed, and Louis II was drowned in his flight 
from the field. The Jagiello line in Hungary and Bo- 
hemia thus came to a premature end, and the acces- 
sion of Archduke Ferdinand to the two thrones re- 
sulted in the establishment of Hapsburg rule in both 
countries, which was to last until 1918. 

Whereas numerous armors can be identified with 
contemporaries of Louis II-notably those of 
Charles V and Ferdinand I preserved in the former 
Hapsburg armories in Madrid and Vienna-only two 
have previously been associated with the young mon- 
arch. One is an incomplete armor for foot combat at 
the barriers (a specially designed tournament armor 
in which even the groin and buttocks are encased in 
plate) in the Waffensammlung, Vienna, which is at- 
tributed to the Innsbruck armorer Konrad Seusen- 
hofer, about 1512-14 (Figures 47, 48).76 The armor 
is of very small proportions and seems to have been 
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49. Right pauldron, traditionally said to belong to an 
,nTfL 
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~~~~armor of Louis II, attributed to Konrad Seusenho- 
fer, Austrian (Innsbruck), ca. 1514. Vienna, Waffen- 

F_r~ ^E<~ ?^^^~ sammlung des Kunsthistorischen Museums, inv. no. 
A 179 (photo: Kunsthistorisches Museum) 

47-48. Incomplete foot-combat armor of Louis II of 
Hungary and Bohemia, attributed to Konrad Seu- 50. Louis II, King of Hungary and Bohemia, ca. 1530. Pen 
senhofer, Austrian (Innsbruck), ca. 1514. Vienna, and watercolor drawing from the Thun Sketch- 
Waffensammlung des Kunsthistorischen Museums, book, Codex a/8, formerly in the library of the 
inv. no. E 1 (photos: Kunsthistorisches Museum) counts Thun-Hohenstein at Tetschen, Bohemia 

(missing since 1945) 

intended for a young boy. It is recorded that, in 
1514, Maximilian I ordered a "tonlet" armor (i.e., 
one with a deep metal skirt) for Louis from his court 
armorer Konrad Seusenhofer in connection with the 
upcoming betrothal ceremonies in Vienna. For this 
reason it is has been conjectured that the foot-combat 
armor may have been ordered at the same time. The 
armor appears to correspond to one, said to have 
been Louis II's, described in an inventory of 1583, 
though there is no internal (i.e., heraldic or icono- 
graphic) evidence to confirm the attribution. 

A second piece of armor in the Waffensammlung, 
a pauldron for the right shoulder of a costume ar- 
mor (Figure 49), has also long been ascribed to Louis 
II.77 Like the boy's armor discussed above, the paul- 
dron is attributed to Konrad Seusenhofer and dated 
about 1514. Given the pauldron's large size-it was 

clearly made for an adult rather than for a boy of 
nine or ten-this attribution can no longer be main- 
tained. 

In the light of the incomplete documentation of 
the pieces in the Waffensammlung, the Metropoli- 
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tan's sallet is the only piece of armor that can be se- 
curely identified as having belonged to Louis II. This 
may explain the presence of the king's portrait in the 
Thun Sketchbook (Figure 50), where it is one of four 
portraits of enthroned rulers (the others are of Philip 
of Castile, Charles V, and Ferdinand I) bound to- 
gether with this famous series of armor designs com- 
ing from the Helmschmid workshop. These por- 
traits, which Gamber dates to around 1530,78 thus 
seem to have constituted a record of Lorenz and Kol- 
man Helmschmid's most important clients, to whom 
Louis II can now definitely be added.79 

One intriguing question remains to be answered: 
How did the sallet of Emperor Maximilian I, the 
Rennhut of Louis II, and the other helmets photo- 
graphed by Bashford Dean come to be found in the 
imperial Ottoman arsenal in Constantinople? The 
majority were certainly captured by the Turks in 
the fifteenth and sixteenth centuries during their 
campaigns in the Mediterranean and Aegean re- 
gions, in the Balkans, Poland, Hungary, Bohemia, 
and Austria-literally up to Vienna's doorstep. Judg- 
ing from the severe damage evident in certain hel- 
mets illustrated in Dean's photographs, some of them 
may have been picked up as battlefield souvenirs, al- 
though the majority were no doubt taken as booty 
from the castles and arsenals overrun by Ottoman 
troops. In the case of Maximilian's sallet (Figure 22), 
Ortwin Gamber has noted that the emperor had a 
habit of leaving his arms behind in the castles he vis- 
ited.80 Thus one of his helmets is in Churburg Castle 
in the north Italian Tirol (left after the battle of Mals 

nearby), his knives are in the monastery of Krems- 
miinster, and a Rennzeug was forgotten in Modling, 
near Vienna. The sallet was very probably taken 
when one of the Hapsburg properties was overrun 
on the Turkish march to Vienna in 1529. 

Similar circumstances probably account for the 
presence of Louis II's Rennhut. It is unlikely that it 
came into Turkish possession at Mohacs, as helmets 
of this type would never have been worn in battle, 
and such expensive sporting equipment is not likely 
to have been included in the king's baggage train for 
a serious campaign in the field. More likely, it formed 
part of the royal Hungarian armory that fell into 
Turkish hands when Buda, the capital, was occupied 
by Ottoman troops in the aftermath of the disaster at 
Mohacs. Records indicate that considerable booty, 
including the library of Matthias Corvinus, was 
removed from Buda to Constantinople by the victors, 
and it is likely that finely decorated European arms 
and armor were also included. The recent discov- 
ery in the Military Museum, Istanbul, of several 
fifteenth-century ceremonial swords from Hungary, 
including a processional sword bearing what may be 
the arms of Lazl6 V (1452-57), tends to confirm this 
theory.81 

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS 

I would like to express my thanks to a number of col- 
leagues who have assisted me with valuable information 
and photographs: Helmut Nickel, David Alexander, 
Donald J. LaRocca, Christian Beaufort-Spontin, Ortwin 
Gamber, Claude Blair, Ian Eaves, and A. V. B. Norman. 

NOTES 

i. Information about Dean's European trip of 1919-20 is de- 
rived from his notebooks, correspondence, and photographs 
preserved in the archives of the Department of Arms and Ar- 
mor in the Metropolitan Museum. Most of this material was 
previously in the private possession of Stephen V. Grancsay 
(1897-1980), the Metropolitan's second Curator of Arms and 
Armor, and came into the Museum's possession with the be- 
quest of Grancsay's library and papers in 1980. Grancsay had 
been one of the executors of Dean's estate, not to mention his 
pupil, confidant, and chosen successor, and so it was natural 
that Dean's private papers and notebooks came into his hands. 
Surprisingly, however, Grancsay never utilized this material, 
and its very existence seems to have been forgotten. 

For Dean's activities as Museum curator and private collector, 
see "Biographical Outline," by C. 0. von Kienbusch, in C. O. 
von Kienbusch and S. V. Grancsay, The Bashford Dean Collection 
of Arms and Armor in The Metropolitan Museum of Art (Portland, 
Me., 1933) especially pp. 24-41; and D.J. LaRocca, "Carl Otto 
Kretzschmar von Kienbusch and the Collecting of Arms and 
Armor in America," Bulletin, Philadelphia Museum of Art 81 
(1985) pp. 6-1 , 23 n.27. 

2. The earliest account of the Chalcis armor in English is 
given in C. Ffoulkes, "On Italian Armour from Chalcis in the 
Ethnological Museum at Athens," Archaeologia 62 (1911) pp. 
381-390. On the same subject, see L. G. Boccia, "The Xalkis 
Funds in Athens and New York" (an unpublished, privately cir- 
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culated typescript of a talk delivered in New York on Oct. 3, 
1981, at the Ninth Triennial Congress of the International As- 
sociation of Museums of Arms and Military History), where the 
helmets from this group are classified by type; and C. Blair, 
"Notes on Armour from Chalcis," Arms and Armour at the Dor- 
chester (London, 1982) pp. 7-14, where Dean's negotiations for 
the acquisition of the Chalcis armor are discussed. 

Dean did not acquire all of his Chalcis armor at one time. 
Having first come across the Chalcis armor in 1891 (B. Dean, 
"Early Gothic Armor," MMAB [1925] p. 133), he obtained three 
pieces (a brigandine plate, a basinet, and an armet) during a 
visit to Athens in 1913. It was only in 1920, however, that he 
secured the larger part of the hoard, which was shipped to New 
York over a two- or three-year period. 

Sixty-eight helmets or helmet parts, five brigandine plates, 
and two lower vambraces (plates for the forearm) remain today 
in the National Historical Museum, Athens. I am especially in- 
debted to A. V. B. Norman for information on the Chalcis ar- 
mor in Athens. 

3. For the history of the Rhodes armor now in the Royal Ar- 
mouries, see C. Ffoulkes, "Armour from the Rotunda, Wool- 
wich, Transferred to the Armouries of the Tower, 1927," 
Archaeologia 78 (1928) pp. 66-69, and idem, "The Rotunda Mu- 
seum, Woolwich, and the Armouries of the Tower of London," 
Apollo 8 (1928) pp. 19-23. 

4. The terrible condition of the Rhodes armor is evident in a 
well-known series of photographs made in Bachereau's shop. 
Dean visited Bachereau twice during his trip of 1919-20. His 
notebooks indicate that he received a small group of Rhodes 
fragments as a gift from the dealer in Dec. 1919 and, returning 
to Paris in April, purchased the majority of Bachereau's remain- 
ing Rhodes pieces for 70,000 francs (about $7,000). A mono- 
graphic study of the Rhodes armor is being prepared by W. J. 
Karcheski, Jr., of the Higgins Armory Museum, Worcester, 
Mass., together with I. D. D. Eaves and T. Richardson of the 
Royal Armouries, H. M. Tower of London. 

5. Dean was professor of vertebrate zoology at Columbia Uni- 
versity and curator of fossil fishes at the American Museum of 
Natural History before becoming Curator of Arms and Armor 
at the Metropolitan Museum. For Dean's scientific career, see 
Kienbusch and Grancsay, The Bashford Dean Collection, pp. 8-1 1. 

6. Acc. nos. 29.150.5 (both lower vambraces and possibly the 
left greave from Chalcis); 29.150.7 (the armet, but not its visor, 
both vambraces and gauntlets, the right tasset, right cuisse, left 
poleyn, and right greave from Chalcis; the right pauldron from 
Rhodes); 29.150.8 (the main plate of right cuisse from Chalcis); 
29.150.9 (the left cowter probably from Chalcis); 29.150.91 (an 
incomplete "brigandine" armor, made up from Chalcis ele- 
ments); 29.154.3 (except for the helmet and minor restored 
plates, largely from Chalcis); 29.156.66 (the left cowter, left tas- 
set, both cuisses, and the right greave from Chalcis); and 50.160 
(left and right vambraces and cowters, the right gauntlet, and 
the left cuisse from Chalcis). The majority of these armors were 
described in Kienbusch and Grancsay, The Bashford Dean Collec- 

tion, nos. 1-5, though not all of the Chalcis and Rhodes ele- 
ments were correctly identified at that time. 

7. For the architectural history of St. Irene, see W. S. George, 
The Church at Saint Eirene at Constantinople (London, 1913) and 
T. F. Mathews, The Early Churches of Constantinople: Architecture 
and Liturgy (University Park, Pa./London, 1971) pp. 77-88. The 
history of the arsenal and its collections is discussed in 0. S. 
Moukhtar, Musee Militaire Ottoman situe a Sainte Irene, Place de 
Top-Kapou-Serail, Guide (Constantinople, 1920) pp. 6-48; and L. 
Kalus, "Collection des armes et armures islamiques du Musee 
Militaire Istanbul," Etudes medievales et patrimoine turc (Paris, 
1983) pp. 135-144. 

8. For the location of the arsenal within the palace precinct, 
see E. Atil, The Age of Sultan Siileyman the Magnificent, exh. cat., 
National Gallery of Art (Washington, D.C., 1987) pp. 113, 147. 

9. Atil, The Age of Sultan Siileyman, pp. 113-114, 147. As evi- 
dence of such gifts, see for example the sale catalogue of the 
collection of arms and armor of the duc d'Istrie, Paris, Jan. 23- 
25, 1839, which included a Turkish armor (no. 1) said to have 
been given to the duc d'Istrie by Count Guilleminot, the former 
French ambassador at Constantinople. The ambassador appar- 
ently had received it as a gift, with the understanding that the 
armor had originally belonged to one of the first sultans. 

10. The so-called arsenal mark, ?V, is thought to derive from 
the tribal mark, or tamga, of the Kayi, one of the twenty-four 
original Oghuz (tribes) of the Turks, from which the Ottomans 
claimed descent. See H. Nickel, "Ceremonial Arrowheads from 
Bohemia," MMJ 1 (1968) p. 63 n.3; and idem, "Tamgas and 
Runes, Magic Numbers and Magic Symbols," MMJ 7 (1973) p. 
168. Earlier theories of the meaning of this mark are discussed 
by E. von Lenz, "Arsenalzeichen oder Beschau," Zeitschrift fur 
Historische Waffenkunde 6 (1912) pp. 299-303. Lenz also sug- 
gested that the arsenal mark was not limited to use in Istanbul, 
but was also probably used in the Ottoman arsenals at Edirne 
and Erzerum, and that it may have served as a proof mark de- 
noting the serviceability of captured weapons. 

The statement of Atil, The Age of Sultan Siileyman, p. 147, that 
all Ottoman arms and armor in the arsenal in Istanbul were 
stamped with the arsenal mark is not completely accurate. It 
would seem that the mark is found on the majority of Islamic 
armor, but on relatively few weapons. The European armor 
seems to have been stamped less frequently. None of the five 
European helmets discussed in this article bears this mark. 

1 . Apart from the numerous pieces of Turkish armor in the 
Metropolitan's collection that bear the arsenal mark, it is also 
found on four pieces of European armor: a mail shirt of 15th- 
or 16th-century date (14.25.1564); the bottom plate of a culet, 
German, ca. 1480 (29.150.71); a gauntlet for the left hand, Ital- 
ian, second half of the 15th century (29.156.69d); and a Ger- 
man gauntlet for the left hand, ca. 1490 (29.158.256). The 
mark is also found on a German sword of the early 16th century 
(1988.26). 

12. Quoted by John Hewitt, Official Catalogue of the Tower Ar- 
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mouries (London, 1859) pp. 116-117, note. C. A. de Cosson's 
preface to the sale catalogue of the Zouche collection, sold by 
Sotheby, Wilkinson and Hodge in London on Nov. 10-11, 
1920, pp. i-iii, refers to a manuscript catalogue of armor at Par- 
ham, unfortunately no longer traceable, in which a similar story 
was related by Lord Zouche. According to de Cosson, Samuel 
Pratt, the well-known dealer of arms and armor in London, had 
also told a similar story. 

At variance with Curzon's account is the report of Gros Malo, 
"Vieilles armures et vieux manuscrits," Intermediaire des cher- 
cheurs et curieux 46, no. 974 (July 20, 1902), col. 64, who gives 
the date of the arsenal's dispersal as 1823, following an oral tra- 
dition in circulation in Istanbul in 1859. Moukhtar, Musee Mili- 
taire Ottoman, p. 29, likewise dates the dispersal to the reign of 
Sultan Mahmud II (1808-39). In light of the fact that Curzon 
was in Constantinople within a year or two after the event, his 
account still seems to me the most reliable. 

13. Moukhtar, Musee Militaire Ottoman, pp. 30-32. 
14. De Cosson, Zouche sale catalogue, p. ii: "Photographs 

which I have show that, twenty years ago [i.e., about 1900], the 
arsenal of St. Irene contained many European swords of the 
fifteenth century, some Saracenic helmets and weapons, but no 
European armour." The swords to which de Cosson refers, vis- 
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